FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
5/12/2022 2:36 PM
No. <u>100925-9</u>

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/13/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 54325-7-II COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

AUSTIN K. FITE, individually, Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF PUYALLUP, a Municipal Corporation under the laws of the State of Washington,

Respondent,

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

BEN F. BARCUS & ASSOCIATIES, PLLC

By: Ben F. Barcus WSBA No. 15576 Paul Lindenmuth WSBA No. 15817

4303 Ruston Way Tacoma, WA 98402-5313 (253) 752-4444 SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

#### A. Introduction.

The petitioner, Austin Fite, plaintiff in the trial court and respondent in the Court of Appeals, asks this Court to reverse the Court of Appeals' published decision and reinstate the jury's verdict, after an 18-day trial, awarding Austin damages (uncontested on appeal) for the serious injuries he suffered when struck by a driver who did not see him in an unreasonably dangerous crosswalk negligently designed by the City of Puyallup.

The Court of Appeals' decision reversing the jury's verdict conflicts with this Court's decision in *Gerlach v*. *Cove Apartments*, 196 Wn.2d 111, 471 P.3d 181 (2020), which reversed the Court of Appeals and reinstated a verdict for plaintiff because the trial court did not abuse its discretion in declining to admit evidence of the plaintiff's intoxication. Contrary to *Gerlach*, the Court of Appeals held here that because Austin admitted he consumed cannabis, it was reversible error to dismiss on summary

judgment the City's intoxication defense, which would have foreclosed recovery were Austin more than 50% at fault. The Court of Appeals ignored both that the City submitted no competent evidence that Austin's alleged intoxication was a proximate cause of his injury and that the jury had rejected the City's comparative fault defense, which the City fully presented at trial, assigning no comparative fault to Austin whatsoever.

The Court of Appeals also erred by failing to hold the City to its burden of proving prejudice from the trial court's failure to include a single sentence—a sentence that the City did not even ask for—in an instruction that correctly stated the City's duty to construct a safe crosswalk. The Court of Appeals' reversal on the grounds the instruction as given "improperly emphasized Fite's theory" conflicts with established precedent because the City was fully able to argue its theory that its crosswalk met all safety standards and was not unreasonably dangerous. See, e.g.,

Hendrickson v. Moses Lake Sch. Dist., 192 Wn.2d 269, 281, ¶¶34-35, 428 P.3d 1197 (2018) (reversing Court of Appeals and reinstating jury's verdict because instructions correctly stated the law).

This Court should grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), reverse the Court of Appeals, and reinstate the judgment on the jury's verdict.

#### **B.** Court of Appeals Decision.

The Court of Appeals issued its original published decision November 9, 2021 (App. A), reported at 19 Wn. App.2d 917, 498 P.3d 538 (2021), and an April 12, 2022 order amending opinion on petitioner's timely motion for reconsideration. (App. B)<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Citations (Op. ¶\_) are to the paragraphs of the published decision.

#### C. Statement of the Case.

1. Because the City's crosswalk design and placement breached its duty of reasonable care, Austin Fite suffered catastrophic injuries when he was hit by a driver who did not see him in the crosswalk.

The Court of Appeals' decision fails to recite the facts that were the basis of the jury's verdict that the motorist was 33% and the City was 67% at fault for Austin's injuries, suffered when Austin was hit when he had almost crossed the street in the City's negligently-designed crosswalk. These facts are briefly summarized here:

The jury heard substantial evidence that the City breached its duty of reasonable care by placing a marked crosswalk not at an intersection or mid-block, but where motorists would not expect a crosswalk. (RP 761-71, 1093-1101, 1113-14, 1124, 1215) The City failed to alert drivers to the location of this "atypical" crosswalk, the City's signage distracted drivers from looking for pedestrians in the crosswalk (RP 765-71, 787, 850, 1124, 1239-40, 1876-77, 1891, 2380-81, 3032-33; Ex. 675), and turning vehicles

blocked the view of both motorists and pedestrians in the crosswalk. (RP 761, 768-70, 787-88, 804, 1886, 2463; Ex. 91)

Austin Fite, age 18, was in the crosswalk and within a few feet of the opposite curb when he was struck by a pickup truck driven northbound by defendant Lee Mudd. (RP 1888-89, 1897, 1900) Mudd's vehicle did not brake or slow at all before hitting Austin, who was lawfully riding his skateboard at a "jogging" pace in the crosswalk. (RP 1237, 1860, 1869, 1874, 1890, 1895; CP 948, 956-57, 1089-94) Mudd did not see Austin, who had made it almost all the way across the street when he was hit. (RP 1709-10, 1713-18, 1727, 2827, 2832; see also RP 1237) According to the City's accident reconstructionist, Mudd's vehicle was 150 feet away when Austin stepped into the crosswalk (RP 2584), but Mudd may not have been able to see Austin, and Austin may not have been able to see Mudd's truck, because of vehicles in the middle lane waiting to turn left. (RP 761, 768-70, 787-88, 804, 1709-10; Ex. 91)

Austin had the right-of-way, was legally in the marked crosswalk, was entitled to rely upon drivers yielding to him, and had no duties of observation once he entered the crosswalk. (*See* unchallenged Instruction 25, CP 3187, WPI 70.03) Every single witness to the accident said Austin was blameless; not a single witness suggested that Austin darted into the roadway, appeared impaired, or was behaving in any manner consistent with impairment. (RP 1237, 1860-63, 1869, 1874, 1888-90, 1895)<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The City's police officer who responded to the accident and interviewed witnesses "didn't identify any actions on behalf of the pedestrian [Austin] as causing or contributing to the accident." (RP 2820: "All four witnesses had the same version of events . . . All four agreed that Fite was in the intersection, riding his skateboard. All four agreed that Mudd . . . collided with Fite . . . I issued Mudd [a citation] for Failure to Yield to Pedestrian in Crosswalk."; CP 1994: "I did not observe the pedestrian/skateboarder engage in any activities that caused or contributed to the collision occurring.") Mr. Mudd admitted that he didn't see Austin in the crosswalk until after he "heard a thud," got out of his truck and saw Austin on the side of the road. (RP 1713-19; see CP 842, 844, 847)

The trial court nevertheless submitted the issue of Austin's comparative fault to the jury on the City's theory that he failed to see Mudd's truck (from at least 150 feet away), failed to wait to cross until it had stopped for him (if the middle turn lane was clear), or failed to stop in the middle of the roadway, or to speed up to finish crossing the street (if the middle lane was occupied). (RP 2585-96, 2600-01) The jury rejected the City's comparative fault defense as a matter of fact after 18 days of trial. (CP 3265)

In addition to a severe head injury, Austin suffered an acute displaced comminuted fracture of his left femur, broken nasal and eye bones, detached retinas in both eyes, and concussion. (RP 3126, 3139-40) Austin suffers from ongoing cognitive issues and PTSD. (RP 951-52, 2061) He has macular degeneration, is now legally blind in one eye, and will never be able to obtain a driver's license. (RP 1395, 1614-15, 1971, 2050) On appeal, the City did not challenge Austin's injuries or the jury's \$6.5 million damage award.

2. The trial court dismissed the City's intoxication defense on summary judgment because the City submitted no evidence Austin's cannabis use proximately caused his injuries.

The Court of Appeals also elides why the trial court dismissed the City's intoxication defense on summary judgment. The City alleged that Austin was "a regular marijuana user" (CP 881), that a family physician who saw Austin 11 weeks after his injury recorded in his notes that Austin was "high on Cannabis while riding his skateboard" (CP 908), and that a urine sample taken for treatment purposes at the hospital showed a THC concentration of at least 50 nanograms per milliliter (ng/ml). (CP 915-16, 1879-80)

The summary judgment record, however, unambiguously established that Austin was slowly skateboarding through the crosswalk when Mudd failed to slow down and struck him as he neared the curb. (CP 715, 954-57) The trial court dismissed the intoxication defense

(CP 1302-04) because the City offered no evidence supporting any correlation between the concentration of THC in Austin's urine sample and his actions:

We don't have any sort of corroborating evidence like he was skateboarding erratically or behaving strangely, wandering across the street or anything like that. He actually made it most of the way across.

#### (7/26/19 RP 64)

The City moved for reconsideration, submitting a toxicologist's declaration that conceded a urine sample "cannot be correlated to one's impairment." (CP 1952) But then, in its reply on reconsideration, the City's toxicologist claimed Austin's "admission" he was "high" was a "significant" fact in support of the intoxication defense. (CP 2114) The trial court held that such speculation on the issue of causation did not manufacture a disputed issue of fact and denied reconsideration reasoning that the expert "does not say that Mr. Fite was in fact experiencing any of these symptoms of THC on a more probable than not basis, and

just saying that he may have been does not rise to the proper level of proof." (8/23/19 RP 25)

### 3. The Court of Appeals reversed the verdict of the properly instructed jury.

The trial court gave the jury several unchallenged instructions on the parties' respective duties of care. The jury was instructed that "The City has a duty to exercise ordinary care in the design, construction, maintenance, and repair of its public roads and crosswalks to keep them in a reasonably safe condition for ordinary travel" (Instruction 27, CP 3189) and that the City "has no duty to conform its roads to present-day standards." (Instruction 29, CP 3191) The trial court instructed the jury that "[w]hether a roadway or crosswalk is reasonably safe for ordinary travel must be determined based on the 'totality of the circumstances.' A roadway or crosswalk can be unsafe for ordinary travel even when there is no violation of statutes, regulations or guidelines concerning roadways and crosswalks." (Instruction 28, CP 3190)

The City only excepted to this last instruction, arguing Instruction 28 was unnecessary because pattern instruction WPI 140.01 "gets the job done" and allowed the plaintiff "to make its arguments." (RP 3187) In a supplemental brief, the City further asserted that any deviation from the pattern instruction was a prohibited "judicial comment[] on the evidence." (CP 2936-38)

The City did not challenge any of the court's instructions as to its comparative fault defense: that Austin had the right of way (Instruction 25, CP 3187), and the "right to assume that others will exercise ordinary care and comply with the law" (Instruction 21, CP 3183); that "[e]very person has a duty to see what would be seen by a person exercising ordinary care" (Instruction 22, CP 3184) and that "[b]efore entering a crosswalk, a pedestrian has a duty to look for approaching vehicles" and to not "walk, run, or otherwise move into the path of a vehicle that is so

close that it is impossible for the driver to stop."

(Instruction 24, CP 3186)

The jury found the City 67% and Mudd 33% responsible for Austin's injuries, rejecting any comparative fault on the part of Austin. (CP 3482-85) The Court of Appeals reversed on the grounds that the City was entitled to present its intoxication defense to the jury, and that Instruction 28 "improperly emphasized Fite's theory." (Op. ¶4)3

#### D. Why This Court Should Grant Review.

1. The Court of Appeals' reinstatement of the intoxication defense conflicts with Gerlach.

The Court of Appeals' decision that "the trial court erred by . . . prohibiting Puyallup from presenting evidence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Court of Appeals rejected the City's arguments that any of the trial court's discretionary evidentiary decisions at trial justified reversal. (Op. ¶43) To the extent the City argues that the Court of Appeals erred in not finding reversible evidentiary error, petitioner reserves the right to address those arguments in a reply to the City's answer, pursuant to RAP 13.4(d).

under RCW 5.40.060 because evidence of Fite's intoxication created material issues of fact preventing summary judgment" (Op. ¶64) conflicts with *Gerlach v. Cove Apartments, LLC*, 196 Wn.2d 111, 121, ¶17, 471 P.3d 181 (2020). This Court in *Gerlach* reversed a Court of Appeals decision, 8 Wn. App.2d 813, 446 P.3d 624 (2019), that focused solely on the fact of intoxication to the exclusion of the remaining elements of the defense established by RCW 5.40.060(1). Division Two made the same error here.

Evidence of intoxication is only the first element of the defense provided by RCW 5.40.060. The City also had the burden of establishing that Austin's intoxication (2) was a proximate cause of his injury, and (3) that he was more than fifty percent at fault. *Gerlach* 196 Wn.2d at 121, ¶17; see 6 Wash. Prac., Wash. Pattern Jury Instr. Civ. WPI 16.03 (7th ed.) (reciting elements of defense). The trial

court correctly dismissed the defense because the City could not establish each element under RCW 5.40.060.

## a. The City could not show that Austin's alleged cannabis consumption caused his injuries.

In *Gerlach*, this Court reinstated a jury verdict for plaintiff, holding that the trial court properly exercised its discretion to exclude an expert's speculative opinion that the plaintiff's consumption of alcohol affected her behavior, based on a hospital toxicology report that did not comply with state toxicology standards.

The plaintiff in *Gerlach* had stipulated to the fact of intoxication; the hospital blood draw, which purported to show a blood alcohol of three times the legal limit, was only "minimally probative" of the disputed elements of causation and degree of fault and the defense expert's testimony "was merely speculative as to [how consumption of alcohol] affected Gerlach's behavior" at the time of her injury. 196 Wn.2d at 120-23, ¶¶16, 21. This Court held that

"[w]hile being intoxicated can certainly influence a person's behavior, the fact of intoxication does not prove a person was acting in any particular way." *Gerlach*, 196 Wn.2d at 125-26, ¶25.

Here, the City's evidence on summary judgment—a non-conforming urine draw and a physician's hearsay statement that Austin was "high"—did not establish his legal intoxication under RCW 5.40.060. As in *Gerlach*, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding such "minimally probative" evidence of intoxication, particularly given the City's expert's concession that "urine results alone cannot be correlated to one's impairment

(that sort of interpretation can only be accomplished using a blood sample)." (CP 1952, 2113-14)<sup>4</sup>

In any event, establishing the mere fact of intoxication is not enough under RCW 5.40.060(1). As in *Gerlach*, the Court of Appeals in this case did not identify any admissible evidence that Fite's intoxication "could have contributed to the accident." (Op. ¶26) The Court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> While there is a "per se" limit for THC in blood, there is no legal limit for THC concentration in urine. RCW 46.61.502(1)(b). Where, as here, "a plaintiff does not admit to being intoxicated, RCW 5.40.060(1) uses the same standard required for criminal convictions under RCW 46.61.502." Gerlach, 196 Wn.2d at 121, ¶17, n.5. As the City's expert conceded (CP 1952), the mere presence of THC in urine in a test that does not comply with state standards, without more, is not probative of whether THC impaired Austin's ability to act as a reasonably careful person. Unlike alcohol, which dissolves into blood and is metabolized at a predictable and consistent rate, THC can cause positive urine test results long after cannabis use. See, e.g., City of Seattle v. Pearson, 192 Wn. App. 802, 815, ¶21, 396 P.3d 194 (2016). See also State v. Fraser, \_ Wn.2d \_\_\_\_, 2022 WL 1493987 (May 12, 2022) (recognizing expert testimony that "the level of THC in one's blood may be an indicator of how recently one used cannabis, but it is not correlated to cognitive impairment and motor performance.").

relied exclusively on a declaration, first submitted by the City on reply in support of its motion for reconsideration of the trial court's summary judgment dismissing the intoxication defense, that was pure speculation. (CP 2113-14)

Even if the Court of Appeals could overlook the trial court's discretion not to change its decision based on "evidence" submitted only on reconsideration, Shanghai Comm'l Bank Ltd v. Kung Da Chang, 189 Wn.2d 474, 479, ¶7, 404 P.3d 62 (2017), the appellate court's reliance on this declaration fails on a threshold level because, as in Gerlach, the expert could only speculate that Fite's alleged consumption of cannabis necessarily contributed to his injury. (CP 1952-53, 2113-14). Speculation concerning "the general effects of intoxication, not the effect it actually had on [the plaintiff]," is "only minimally probative of causation and fault because" it cannot "link [the plaintiff's] intoxication to any actual behavior leading to" the accident.

Gerlach, 196 Wn.2d at 124, ¶21; see Safeco Ins. Co. v. McGrath, 63 Wn. App. 170, 177, n.18, 817 P.2d 861 (1991), rev. denied, 118 Wn.2d 1010 (1992) ("expert opinion based on speculation and conjecture may not go to the jury").

The admissible and undisputed evidence on summary judgment established that Austin's consumption of cannabis had no role in his injury. Austin "almost made it entirely across the street" before being struck by Mudd's right front fender; Mudd "did not slow down or brake" or "see the pedestrian" in the City's crosswalk. Not a single witness suggested that Austin, traveling at "jogging speed" on a skateboard, darted into the crosswalk, or was behaving in a manner consistent with impairment. (CP 846-957, 1091-94) The Court of Appeals erred in relying on pure speculation to hold that a jury could find that Austin's alleged intoxication caused his injury.

The intoxication defense is a powerful one, prohibiting any recovery at all if a plaintiff is more than

50% responsible for his injuries. As such, the statute itself requires evidence of both the fact of intoxication and its contribution to the claimed injuries. *Gerlach*, 196 Wn.2d at 126, ¶25 ("the fact of intoxication does not prove a person was acting in any particular way.").

The Court of Appeals' published decision would render these limitations in RCW 5.40.060 as a defense to liability meaningless, authorizing an affirmative intoxication defense at trial without *any* evidence establishing a causal connection between the plaintiff's alleged intoxication and the injury. *See Porter v. Kirkendoll*, 194 Wn.2d 194, 211, ¶37, 449 P.3d 627 (2019) (courts must apply statutes such that no phrase is rendered meaningless).

Division Two's published decision would manufacture a complete defense to liability based on the perceived moral hazard of a plaintiff's use of cannabis, in conflict with *Gerlach* and the plain language of the statute

requiring the defendant to show "that such condition was a proximate cause of the injury." RCW 5.40.060.

## b. The City was not prejudiced by the inability to present an intoxication defense when the jury found Austin was not negligent.

The Court of Appeals further erred in ignoring that for the defendant to establish an intoxication defense, RCW 5.40.060(1) requires "the trier of fact finds [plaintiff] to have been more than fifty percent at fault." The trial court here submitted Austin's contributory negligence to the jury, which did not allocate *any* comparative fault to Austin at trial, finding that Austin was fault-free in relying on the safety of the crosswalk to get to the opposite curb and avoid harm.

The City therefore could not possibly have been prejudiced by the trial court's dismissal of its intoxication defense given the jury's verdict rejecting the City's claim of comparative negligence. "[E]rror without prejudice is not grounds for reversal." *Barriga Figueroa v. Prieto* 

Mariscal, 193 Wn.2d 404, 415, ¶18, 441 P.3d 818 (2019); Brown v. Spokane Cnty. Fire Prot. Dist. No. 1, 100 Wn.2d 188, 196, 668 P.2d 571 (1983); see Howell v. Spokane & Inland Empire Blood Bank, 117 Wn.2d 619, 627-28, 818 P.2d 1056 (1991) (affirming summary judgment order that limited appellant from conducting discovery because it did not cause prejudice).

The Court of Appeals' reversal cannot stand in light of the jury's findings that Austin was fault-free.

### c. The Court of Appeals imposes obligations on pedestrians that are unsupported by Washington law.

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