# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/27/2022 1:34 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100925-9

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

AUSTIN K. FITE, individually,

Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF PUYALLUP, a Municipal Corporation under the laws of the State of Washington,

Respondent,

and

LEE R. MUDD and "JANE DOE" MUDD, individually and husband and wife, and the marital community comprised thereof,

Defendants.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Fite was an experienced cannabis user. CP 2121. His statement that he was "high" was his own that his mental faculties were affected to an appreciable degree. *Peralta*, 187 Wn.2d at 899. In fact, evidencing his knowledge of THC dependence, Fite insisted to his physician that his mental state was caused by "heavy intoxication with THC." CP 908.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Fite neglects to provide any authority supporting this contention.

Wn.2d 1038 (2022), Division I broadly applied the rule to allow even the statements of a party-opponent who died to be admitted. *Id.* at 911. Additionally, Fite's statements to his doctor are not hearsay under ER 803(a)(4) in any event. *State v. Doerflinger*, 170 Wn.2d 650, 664, 285 P.3d 217 (2012).

Other evidence supported the City's entitlement to present its statutory defense to the jury. When Fite claims in passing that the Franciscan hospital urinalysis results were "non-conforming," pet. at 15, that is belied by the record and common sense. Medical tests conducted at a hospital are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Urinalysis results have long been *routinely* utilized as reliable to establish improper drug use in employment or in post-conviction supervision of criminal offenders. *See*, *e.g.*, *Alvarado v. State*, *Dep't of Licensing*, 193 Wn. App. 171, 371 P.3d 549 (2016) (commercial driver license revocation under RCW 46.25.125 and 49 C.F.R. § 40); *Rushing v. State*, 382 N.W.2d 141 (Iowa 1986) (UA results as to cannabis in prison discipline proceeding); *State v. Snider*, 835 P.2d 495 (Az. App. 1992) (UA results in probation revocation); *State v. Farmer*, 964 P.2d 670 (Ida. App. 1998) (UA results credible and reliable in probation revocation proceeding). Of course, had the intoxication defense been presented to the jury, Fite would have been free to argue the reliability of the urinalysis results, if he had any legitimate basis to do so.

necessarily reliable. A hospital wants its treatment of a patient to be based on the most reliable information possible if nothing else than to avoid the risk of liability for corporate negligence. *Pedroza v. Bryant*, 101 Wn.2d 226, 677 P.2d 166 (1984).

Fite's hospital urinalysis test documented that his THC levels were *ten times* the statutory limit. Those results were reliable, as Sally Kramer, CHI Franciscan's CR 30(b)(6) witness, testified. Kramer testified in detail on the process used to analyze the THC levels in Fite's urine sample. CP 1828-30, 1839. She affirmed the precision and accuracy of Fite's test results. CP 1848, 1857-58, 1880. Franciscan even undertook quality control in Fite's case, documenting his results, and ensuring that the results were properly charted. CP 1849-51. Fite did not show that there were any complications or mistakes in processing his screening test. CP 2058-66.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Another CHI Franciscan CR 30(b)(6) representative, Haley Wahl, further testified that the hospital's method of obtaining a urine sample from Fite did not affect the accuracy of his test. CP 1901-10.

Notwithstanding Fite's contrary contention, pet. at 16 n.4, a blood draw was not required to establish that Fite was under the influence of cannabis based on the standards of RCW 46.61.502.<sup>11</sup> In her twenty plus years of experience, Kramer testified that it would be rare to do a blood draw to test for THC levels, as such tests are almost always done by a urine sample. CP 1835-37. While a urinalysis might not satisfy the "per se" intoxication prong of RCW 46.61.502(1)(b), the City was entitled to go to the jury on whether Fite was "under the influence of or affected by ... [cannabis]," because urinalysis results can be indicative of intoxication, RCW 46.61.502(1)(c), particularly after *Fraser*.

Moreover, contrary to Fite's argument, pet. at 16-21, the City provided sufficient evidence on causation on summary judgment. The issue is whether a plaintiff is "under the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> It is ironic that Fite's counsel argued to this Court in *Gerlach* that the BAC results derived from hospital blood draws were "unreliable" for purposes of RCW 5.40.060. Plainly, no test results are ever satisfactory to Fite's counsel to document intoxication.

influence of intoxicating liquor or drugs." Contrary to Fite's position, in *Peralta* and *Gerlach*, the plaintiff's admission of intoxication was sufficient to submit the RCW 5.40.060 defense to the jury. In *Peralta*, a State Patrol vehicle struck the plaintiff when she stepped into the street. There was no evidence that alcohol consumption had anything to do with that decision, and such evidence was unnecessary for the statutory defense once the plaintiff admitted she was intoxicated. 187 Wn.2d at 900-01.

In *Gerlach*, the plaintiff stipulated to the fact that she was intoxicated, and this Court seemingly concluded that such an admission coupled with evidence on the plaintiff's behavior in connection with her fall from an apartment balcony was sufficient to allow the defense to be submitted to the jury. The *Gerlach* majority did not hold that the trial court erred in submitting the defense to the jury, even though it indicated in passing that evidence of the plaintiff's behavior was necessary

to prove the causation element. *Id.* at 121.<sup>12</sup> Rather, the majority stated only that evidence of high BAC levels "alone" do not establish plaintiff's fault or causation. *Id.* at 124-26. *Gerlach* did not foreclose a jury considering drug test results in tandem with other evidence of a plaintiff's intoxication. *See id.* 

Division II's opinion addressed causation appropriately, in any event, noting that Fite's failure to stop before entering the crosswalk and his failure to make any move to avoid the Mudd vehicle could have been the basis for a reasonable jury to conclude that Fite's behavior resulted from his cannabis intoxication. Op. at 9. That is especially true because Fite acted outside of his own habits, forgoing his usual safety precautions that he believed necessary at that intersection. RP 2097; CP

The majority upheld the trial court's exclusion of the plaintiff's BAC results where a "stipulation" as to her intoxication had been submitted to the jury, and also excluded essentially all of the defense expert testimony on the *effect* of the plaintiff's egregious intoxication on her judgment and behavior in attempting to climb over a balcony rail. *Id.* at 121-27.

901-03. Fite told his doctor that he "was high on Cannabis while riding his skateboard to Wallmart (*sic*) to buy a cheeseburger." CP 2123. An experienced drug user's self-assessment of how his drug intake affected his behavior may properly be considered by a jury.

A jury brings its "opinions, insights, common sense, and everyday life experience" to bear in rendering a verdict based on its common wisdom. *Barnett v. Sequim Valley Ranch, LLC*, 174 Wn. App. 475, 493, 302 P.3d 500, *review denied*, 178 Wn.2d 1014 (2013). A reasonable jury could readily conclude from its common experience that a person admittedly high on THC with THC levels in his system *10 times* the legal limit manifested impaired judgment and seriously diminished motor skills. *See Fraser*, 509 P.3d at 290 ("[R]ecent consumption is linked to impairment."). That was enough to establish a *prima facie* basis for the City to present its RCW 5.60.040 defense to the jury.

Whether the evidence here was enough to support

causation is a fact-specific question unique to this case's particular circumstances, not a broad legal question for this Court's determination. As this Court has repeatedly noted, "[c]ause in fact is generally left for the jury, and it determines what actually occurred." *Meyers v. Ferndale Sch. Dist.*, 197 Wn.2d 281, 289, 481 P.3d 1084 (2021). Fite's causation argument belongs in front of a jury, not in this state's highest court.

Finally, Fite's contention that the City was not prejudiced by the trial court's failure to submit its intoxication defense to the jury because it found him not to be at fault, pet. at 20-21, is wrong. Of course, the jury heard *no evidence* on Fite's extreme THC intoxication. Nor did the jury hear any evidence on Fite's failure to look.

The RCW 5.60.040 defense and comparative fault are distinct defenses, as the Legislature fully understood in enacting RCW 5.60.040 in 1986, long after it enacted comparative

negligence in 1973.<sup>13</sup> The City was entitled to present its RCW 5.60.040 defense to a jury under long-standing decisions of this Court. A comparative fault-related defense is a jury question. See, e.g., Young v. Caravan Corp., 99 Wn.2d 655, 661, 663 P.2d 834 (1983) (Contributory fault is ordinarily a jury question and should be resolved as a matter of law "only in the clearest of cases and when reasonable minds could not have differed in their interpretation of a factual pattern."). A party is entitled to present an affirmative defense to the jury if there is substantial evidence to sustain it. See, e.g., Fergen v. Sestero, 182 Wn.2d 794, 346 P.3d 708 (2015). When a court deprives a party of a theory or defense for which there is evidence in the record, that is reversible error because a party, like the City here, is hamstrung by such a decision. State v. Harvill, 169 Wn.2d 254, 259, 234 P.3d 1166 (2010) (defendant is entitled to jury

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Fite obviously ignores the trial court's persistent pattern of depriving the City of evidence to establish Fite's fault. Reply br. at 22-27. The trial court's actions in connection with the City's comparative fault defense are not before this Court, however.

instruction on his/her theory of the case where there is evidence to support it; failure to instruct is reversible error).

In sum, Division II was correct that the trial court erred in failing to allow a jury to assess Fite's intoxication and the defense afforded the City in RCW 5.40.060. Review is not merited. RAP 13.4(b).

(2) <u>Division II Was Correct that The Trial Court Erred</u> <u>in Instructing the Jury on the City's Alleged</u> <u>Liability for Fite's Injuries</u>

Although the trial court properly gave Instruction 27 to the jury that is WPI 140.01, CP 3189, the general instruction for a municipality's road design liability after this Court's decision in *Keller v. City of Spokane*, 146 Wn.2d 237, 252, 44 P.3d 845 (2002) and its progeny, it then put its thumb on the scale in the case by giving the jury Instruction 28. *See* Appendix. Division II correctly determined that the City was deprived of a fair trial when the trial court did so. Op. at 14-16.

This Court has clearly articulated the rule of municipal road design liability that balances making the government an

insurer of all car accidents against providing appropriate redress for people injured by inherently dangerous roads in cases like *Keller*; *Owen v. Burlington No. & Santa Fe R.R. Co.*, 153 Wn.2d 780, 787, 108 P.3d 1220 (2005); and *Wuthrich v. King County*, 185 Wn.2d 19, 366 P.3d 926 (2016). A municipality is not an insurer against roadway risks or a guarantor of travelers' safety. *Berglund v. Spokane Cnty.*, 4 Wn.2d 309, 313, 103 P.2d 355 (1940); *Keller*, 146 Wn.2d at 252.

Nevertheless, the trial court told the jury in Instruction 28 that it could find the road dangerous "even when there is no violation of statutes, regulations and guidelines concerning crosswalks and roadways." CP 3190. The trial court allowed the jury to hear only *half* the story to which they were entitled under RCW 5.40.050 and pertinent roadway design authorities, depriving the City of a fair trial, as Division II properly concluded.

The City was required to exercise "ordinary care," CP 3178, 3189, and evidence of what ordinary care requires may be

shown by referencing national standards, statutes, or administrative regulations. *Nordstrom v. White Metal Rolling & Stamping Corp.*, 75 Wn.2d 629, 640, 453 P.2d 619 (1969). *See generally, Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 286 (discussing cases). Industry standards also may establish the standard of conduct. *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 295A. It is no different in the context of roadway design. *Owens*, 153 Wn.2d at 787; *Ruff v. Cnty. of King*, 125 Wn.2d 697, 705, 887 P.2d 886 (1995).

The Washington State Department of Transportation ("WSDOT") must implement the Federal Highway Administration's Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices ("MUTCD"). RCW 47.36.030(1); WAC 468-95-010, et seq. In turn, municipalities must utilize those state-imposed standards. RCW 36.86.080; RCW 47.36.030(2). Also, a road design industry organization, the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials ("AASHTO"), promulgates standards that may be used to evaluate a roadway

design if the municipality has adopted them. as suggested in *Ruff*, 125 Wn.2d at 705.

Consistent with these principles, the City called in-house and forensic experts who testified that the roadway and crosswalk complied not only with the MUTCD and AASHTO policy prescriptions, but also with WSDOT design guidelines and with City standards. RP 2177-78, 2199-2215, 2257, 2952-54, 2962-68. This testimony should have permitted the City to argue that that the City had used ordinary care to make the road reasonably safe. Instruction 28 prevented that.

Fite's claim that the instructions allowed the City to argue its theory of the case, pet. at 27-29, is belied by the fact that Instruction 28 rendered any of the evidence noted above *meaningless* to the jury. An instruction that tells the jury it should ignore such evidence is erroneous, as Division II properly concluded.

Fite quibbles about whether this aspect of Instruction 28 actually overemphasizes the issue. Pet. at 28. But whether the

statement misstates the law, *Hendrickson v. Moses Lake Sch. Dist.*, 192 Wn.2d 269, 280-81, 428 P.3d 1197 (2018), or, as Division II charitably put it, overemphasizes Fite's theory of the case, *Cornejo v. State*, 57 Wn. App. 314, 321, 788 P.2d 554 (1990) (error to give instruction that unfairly emphasized one side's case); *Terrell v. Hamilton*, 190 Wn. App. 489, 506, 358 P.3d 453 (2015) (Court should not give instructions that impart a "improper argumentative slant."), the instruction was error.

Fite seems to contend that overemphasis requires multiple instructions emphasizing a point. Pet. at 28. *Cornejo* makes clear that argument is baseless. There, a single instruction constituted "overemphasis." 57 Wn. App. at 320-21. Instruction 28 deprived the City of a fair shake on liability and should not have been given to the jury.

Fite also contends that the City did not preserve this error for review. Pet. at 26-27. Fite's procedural argument fails. First, he did not preserve it. He never raised it in his brief, saving it for his motion for reconsideration. Division II

properly disregarded an argument not raised until that late date in the case. *1515-1519 Lakeview Blvd. Condo. Ass'n v. Apt. Sales Corp.*, 146 Wn.2d 194, 203 n.4, 43 P.3d 1233 (2022) (refusing to consider issue raised for first time on reconsideration in the Court of Appeals).

The City offered jury instructions on the relevance of MUTCD standards, CP 2797-98, but withdrew them after the trial court's position made clear that it would be fruitless to argue about them. RP 3225-26. But more importantly, the City *objected* to Instruction 28 because of its treatment of its compliance with signage standards. RP 3318-19. The City had no obligation to propose specific language amending Instruction 28 to address the City's compliance with statutes and regulations on signage. *Washburn v. City of Federal Way*, 178 Wn.2d 732, 748, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013) (objecting party has no affirmative obligation to offer alternative language or an alternative instruction).

Instruction 28's prejudice to the City was clear. Fite's

counsel zeroed in on the issue during closing argument. Thanks to that instruction, Fite's trial counsel was able to argue that the crosswalk's compliance with road-design standards was not enough as a matter of law, arguing; "Just because you might comply with a law or directive, *you have to do more*." CP 3252 (emphasis added). That is emphatically not the law; a municipality's compliance with road design standards *may* be enough. *Owen*, 153 Wn.2d at 787. Division II did not err in requiring a new trial. Review is not merited. RAP 13.4(b).

### D. CONCLUSION

Fite has failed to establish why Division II's opinion that the City was deprived of a fair trial on liability merits this Court's attention under RAP 13.4(b). For the reasons articulated herein, this Court should deny review.

This document contains 4950 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.